IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 87,631

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

FILED SID J. WHITE MAY 30 1996 CLERK By

Petitioner,

-vs-

PATSY JONES,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

CONSUELO MAINGOT

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0897612 Office of the Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs Post Office Box 013241 Miami, Florida 3310 (305) 377-5441 Fax: 377-5655

INTRODUCTION

Petitioner, THE STATE OF FLORIDA, was the prosecution in the trial court and Appellee in the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Third District. Respondent, PATRICIA JONES, was the Defendant in the trial court and the Appellant in the District Court of Appeal. The parties shall be referred to as they stood in the trial court. The symbol "R." designates the original record on appeal, and the symbols "ST." and "T." designate the supplemental transcript and transcript of the trial court proceedings.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Patsy Lakesia Jones, was charged by Information in Case No. 93-30742 along with codefendants Recondall ("Reco") L. Wiggins and Alvan ("Al") Charles Hudson, with attempted first degree premeditated murder, armed burglary of an occupied conveyance, armed robbery, carjacking and dealing in stolen property, offenses arising out of the midnight hijacking of visiting businessman Thomas Walsh as he left a car rental agency near the airport on the night of September 7, 1993. (R. 1-5).

The evidence adduced at trial established that shortly before midnight the Defendant and the codefendants -- Defendant's boyfriend Reco and Al -- gathered at Reco's house and prepared to go out and rob. (ST. 921). They traveled in a fifteen-foot yellow Ryder truck and shortly after midnight on September 7, 1993, they began following the victim from the area around the airport car rental companies up onto State Road 112 heading eastbound toward the beach. (ST. 922-923). Observing that there was no traffic on the expressway, Reco maneuvered the Ryder truck in front of the victim's rental car forcing him to stop. (ST. 924). The victim attempted to back down the ramp away from the truck, but Al and the Defendant jumped out of the truck and the Defendant fired one or two shots from about thirty feet away. (ST. 270-271). The Defendant was carrying a sawed off shotgun, and testified in her statement that she fired a warning shot into the air. (ST. 925-Thomas Walsh testified that the Defendant jumped out of a 927). truck about thirty feet from is rental car and aimed a shotgun directly at him, firing one or two shots. (ST. 270-273). Al ran to the victim's car on the passenger side, pointing a .25 caliber pistol at him and told him to get out. (ST. 927). The Defendant and Al robbed the victim, leaving him with his wedding ring. (ST. 273-276). The Defendant and Al drove away in the rental car with

the victim's belongings which they later split up and pawned. (ST. 927-930). The Defendant, after a waiver of her rights, gave statements to the police admitting her involvement. (ST. 550-557, 589-602, 634-637, 688, 692, 696-698, 919-938).

During the charge of the jury, instructions as to the lesser included offenses of the charge of attempted first degree murder (ST. 809-814) included attempted second degree murder (ST 814), attempted third degree murder (the underlying felonies being grand theft and/or armed trespass) (ST. 815-816), attempted voluntary manslaughter (ST. 816-818) and aggravated assault (ST. 818). On November 17, 1994, the jury returned a verdict of guilty of attempted third degree murder with a firearm, a lesser included offense of Count One of the Information -- a second degree felony, (R. 161) guilty of armed burglary of an occupied conveyance with a firearm -- a first degree felony, (R. 162) guilty of robbery with a firearm -- a first degree felony, (R. 163) guilty of carjacking with a firearm -- a first degree felony, (R. 164) and guilty of dealing in stolen property -- a second degree felony. (R. 165). The Defendant was adjudicated guilty on all five counts in accord with the verdicts and sentencing was set over until December 29, (R. 166). The Defendant's sentencing guidelines scoresheet 1994.

totaled 156 points indicating a recommended range of seven to twelve years state prison and a permitted range of three to seventeen years state prison. (T. 176).

On December 29, 1994, the trial court sentenced the Defendant on Count I to five years in state prison, on Counts II and III each for a term of natural life with three year minimum mandatory terms for the use of a firearm, on Count IV to a term of thirty years with a three year minimum mandatory term for the use of a firearm, and on Count V to a term of fifteen years, all sentences and mandatory minimum terms to be served concurrently. (R. 170-175; ST. 905). The trial court entered a written order departing upwards from the sentencing guidelines, stating as grounds therefor:

> The victim's status as a tourist made him particularly vulnerable to defendant's crimes since his lack of familiarity with the area made his escape highly unlikely. Moreover, because he was a tourist it was a great hardship for him to return to Miami to appear for deposition and trial. The defendant and her codefendants specifically selected the victim in this case because they hoped that his vulnerability as a tourist would make the crime easier to commit and less likely to be successfully prosecuted.

(R. 176, 178-179; ST. 899, 908).

On appeal, the Third District Court of Appeal found no merit to the Defendant's challenges to her convictions and sentences for armed burglary, armed robbery, carjacking with a firearm and dealing in stolen property, affirming the same. However, the Third District reversed the defendant's conviction and sentence for attempted third degree felony murder based on <u>State v. Gray</u>, 654 So. 2d 552 (Fla. 1995). The Court further disagreed with and rejected the State's argument that the reversed conviction for attempted third degree felony murder should be reduced to a lesser included offense. The Third District recognized that this issue will recur in virtually all cases governed by <u>Gray</u>, and therefore again certified the following question of great public importance, which was first formulated in <u>Wilson v. State</u>, 660 So. 2d 1067 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995):

> WHEN A CONVICTION FOR ATTEMPTED FIRST DEGREE FELONY MURDER MUST BE VACATED ON AUTHORITY OF <u>STATE V. GRAY</u>, 654 So. 2d 552 (Fla. 1995), DO LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSES REMAIN VIABLE FOR A NEW TRIAL OR REDUCTION OF THE OFFENSE?

(App. A:2; <u>Jones v. State</u>, No. 95-389 (Fla. 3d DCA March 13, 1996)).

Additionally, the Third District rejected the trial court's upward departure sentence based on the victim's "particular vulnerability" because of his status as a tourist, reversing and remanding for resentencing within the sentencing guidelines. (App. A:3-7). The Third District recognized that this issue presented a question of great public importance, certifying the following question:

> WHETHER THE PARTICULAR VULNERABILITY OF A PERSON IN THE VICTIM'S POSITION JUSTIFIES A DEPARTURE FROM THE GUIDELINES?

QUESTION PRESENTED

Ι

WHETHER LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSES REMAIN VIABLE FOR A NEW TRIAL OR REDUCTION OF THE OFFENSE AFTER A CONVICTION FOR ATTEMPTED FIRST DEGREE FELONY MURDER IS VACATED PURSUANT TO <u>STATE V.</u> <u>GRAY</u>, 654 So. 2d 552 (Fla. 1995).

ΙI

WHETHER THE PARTICULAR VULNERABILITY OF A PERSON IN THE VICTIM'S POSITION JUSTIFIES A DEPARTURE FROM THE GUIDELINES?

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In <u>State v. Gray</u>, 654 So. 2d 552 (Fla. 1995), this Court receded from Amlotte v. State, 456 So. 2d 448 (Fla. 1984), and held that attempted felony murder is no longer an offense in Florida. That decision was to be applied to all cases, such as the instant one, which were currently pending on direct appeal at the time of the issuance of the decision in <u>Gray</u>. <u>Gray</u> did not address how the appellate courts should deal with issues such as the possibility of reducing the conviction for attempted felony murder to an offense which was a lesser included offense of attempted felony murder at the time of the trial. Nor did this Court's opinion in Gray discuss the possibility of remanding such cases to the trial court for retrial on such potential lesser included offenses of the charge of attempted first degree murder -- and, as here, the conviction for attempted third degree murder -- as attempted voluntary manslaughter or aggravated assault. The Third District Court of Appeal, construing Gray, has effectively held that the only proper action is to reverse the attempted third degree felony murder conviction. Without the possibility of either a reduction of that conviction to a lesser included offense or a retrial on such lesser included offenses, the Third District's decision is

effectively discharging the defendant from all acts related to the firing of the sawed off shotgun at the victim, even though there has never been any acquittal of the defendant on any charge, and even though the evidence presented to the jury - the intentional shooting at the victim - is fully consistent with various lesser degrees of attempted homicide and aggravated assault. Based on this Court's policy decision to recede from <u>Amlotte</u>, the Defendant has been given an unwarranted free ride as to any and all other homicide and assault related charges. That result does not ensue from anything which this Court stated in <u>Gray</u>.

The victim's status as a tourist/visitor placed him in a particularly vulnerable position because the Defendant and her codefendants specifically targeted and hunted late arrivals at Miami International Airport car rental agencies for victimization. The trial court was justified in imposing sentence constituting an upward departure from the sentencing guidelines based on this heightened vulnerability, where the Legislature of Florida has recognized this heightened vulnerability status of tourist/visitors by enactment of measures to prevent easy identification of rental cars in order to protect tourist/visitors from such victimization.

ARGUMENT I

LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSES REMAIN VIABLE FOR A NEW TRIAL OR REDUCTION OF THE OFFENSE WHEN A CONVICTION FOR ATTEMPTED FIRST DEGREE FELONY MURDER IS VACATED PURSUANT TO <u>STATE V. GRAY</u>, 654 So. 2d 552 (Fla. 1995).

While this Court, in <u>State v. Gray</u>, 654 So. 2d 552 (Fla. 1995), held that attempted felony murder is no longer an offense in Florida, that decision did not address the propriety of either remanding such cases to the trial court for retrial on lesser included offenses of the original charge of attempted first degree murder, or for reducing the conviction for attempted third degree felony murder to a potential lesser included offense. Insofar as this Court did not address either of those possibilities in its opinion in <u>Gray</u>, the Third District Court of Appeal's construction of <u>Gray</u>, in the instant case, as mandating outright reversal, without the possibility of either retrial or reduction to a lesser included offense, is clearly erroneous.

Several appellate court decisions in Florida have dealt with the ramifications flowing from judicial decisions that various criminal convictions were for nonexistent offenses. Most recently, in <u>Thompson v. State</u>, 667 So. 2d 470 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996), the Third

District has found that upon reversal of the attempted first-degree murder conviction on grounds that one of the crimes that went to the jury, attempted felony murder, did not exist, there was no impediment to a new trial on the charge of attempted premeditated murder where the facts could support a quilty verdict on that charge. The district court specifically noted that the opinion in Thompson differed from its opinions in Lee v. State, 664 So. 2d 330 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995) question certified, Alfonso v. State, 661 So. 2d 308 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995) question certified, and Wilson v. State, 660 So. 2d 1067 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995) question certified. In those cases the court refused to reduce the convictions for attempted felony murder to a lesser included offense or remand for a new trial on a lesser included offense because it found that there could be no lesser included offense to the now non-existent crime of attempted felony murder. Thompson v. State, 667 So. 2d at 471.

In other cases, the courts have typically remanded the case for retrial. For example, in <u>Hieke v. State</u>, 605 So. 2d 983 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992), the defendant was found guilty of solicitation to commit third degree murder. After concluding that the conviction was for a nonexistent crime, the appellate court remanded the case to the trial court for a new trial on the lesser included offenses

of aggravated battery or battery, as both of those lesser included offenses had been submitted to the jury which returned the conviction for the nonexistent offense. This Court dealt with a similar situation in Achin v. State, 436 So. 2d 30 (Fla. 1983), where the defendant, who had been charged with extortion, was convicted of the nonexistent offense of attempted extortion. The remedy for the improper conviction of a nonexistent offense was for a retrial on the original charge of extortion, an obviously higher level offense than the improper conviction for the nonexistent offense of attempted extortion. Likewise, in Jordan v. State, 438 So. 2d 825 (Fla. 1983), where the defendant was charged with resisting arrest with violence and convicted for the nonexistent offense of attempted resisting arrest with violence, the remedy was a retrial on the original charge. While <u>Hieke</u> involved a situation virtually identical to that presented in the instant case,¹ the

If anything, the facts of the instant case present a more compelling position for permitting retrial than do the facts of <u>Hieke</u>. While <u>Hieke</u> involved an offense which had never been recognized as an existing offense in Florida, the instant case involved attempted felony murder which, for at least 11 years, from the time of <u>Amlotte v. State</u>, 456 So. 2d 448 (Fla. 1984) until this Court's decision in <u>Gray</u>, eleven years later and seven months after the trial in this case, had been recognized as an offense in Florida. Thus, attempted felony murder clearly had been a recognized offense, including at the time of the trial herein. It would be absurd for appellate courts to deal more harshly with

decisions in Jordan and Achin were both permitting retrials not merely for any offenses which had been lesser included offenses of the conviction for a nonexistent offense, but for the original greater charge under which the defendant had been tried. Since those cases were going back for retrial on the original, greater charge, it necessarily follows, pursuant to this Court's decision, that the trial court would have jurisdiction, on retrial, to permit the jury to consider not just the original, greater charge, but any proper lesser offenses of that charge as well. See also, State v. Sykes, 434 So. 2d 325 (Fla 1983) (permitting retrial on theft charges after conviction for nonexistent offense of attempted second-degree theft was overturned); Ward v. State, 446 So. 2d 267 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984) (permitting retrial on forgery charge after conviction for nonexistent offense of attempted uttering of a forged instrument was overturned); Cox v. State, 443 So. 2d 1013 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984) (permitting retrial on insurance fraud charge after conviction for nonexistent offense of attempted insurance fraud was overturned); Brown v. State, 550 So. 2d 142 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989) (permitting retrial on solicitation charge after conviction

efforts at re-prosecution under such circumstances than in the case of a conviction for a nonexistent offense where that offense, as in <u>Hieke</u>, had never been explicitly recognized as a viable offense in Florida.

for nonexistent offense of attempted solicitation was overturned).

Thus, in this case the conclusion that retrial on lesser included offenses is prohibited by Gray would be clearly erroneous. As in <u>Hieke</u>, the jury in the instant case was instructed on a wide variety of lesser included offenses of attempted first degree murder: attempted second degree murder, attempted third degree murder, attempted manslaughter and aggravated assault. (T. 808). Furthermore, it is clear that there is no double jeopardy bar to retrial on the various lesser included offenses. The verdict which the jury returned in this case was a conviction for the lesser included offense of attempted third degree felony murder, which was the second lesser included offense that the jury had been instructed to consider. There was no acquittal of the Defendant for that offense (attempted third degree felony murder) or for either of the next lesser included offenses -- the parallel offense of attempted manslaughter (also a second degree felony) or aggravated assault -- which the jury was instructed to consider. Under such circumstances, a retrial does not present any double jeopardy problems. The double jeopardy clause furnishes protection in three distinct situations, none of which are applicable herein: (1) it protects against second prosecution for the same offense

after acquittal; (2) it protects against second prosecution for the same offense after conviction; and (3) it protects against multiple punishments for the same offense. Ohio v. Johnson, 467 U.S. 493, 104 S.Ct. 2536, 81 L.Ed. 2d 425 (1984). As to the second situation, re-prosecution for the same offense after conviction, that refers to subsequent prosecutions which attempt to obtain multiple convictions for the same offense; it has no bearing on the typical situation of a reversal of a conviction, for reasons other than insufficient evidence, on an appeal initiated by the defendant, which ultimately results in the retrial on remand to the trial court. See, e.g., Montana v. Hall, 481 U.S. 400, 107 S.Ct. 1825, 95 L.Ed. 2d 354 (1987) (defendant convicted under an inapplicable statute, after reversal on appeal, could be tried on the correct charge); United States v. Scott, 437 U.S. 82, 90-91, 98 S.Ct. 2187, 57 L.Ed. 2d 65 (1978) ("[t]he successful appeal of a judgment of conviction, on any ground other than the insufficiency of the evidence to support the verdict . . . poses no bar to further prosecution on the same charge."); Achin, supra.

The United States Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit, in <u>United States v. Davis</u>, 873 F. 2d 900 (6th Cir. 1989), dealt with a highly analogous situation and rejected a defendant's double

jeopardy claim. Davis had been charged with mail fraud, based on an "intangible rights" theory, <u>Davis</u>, 873 F. 2d at 901. Shortly after the defendant was convicted under that charge, the Supreme Court of the United States disavowed the "intangible rights" theory of mail fraud² and the defendant's conviction was overturned on Subsequent to the reversal of that conviction, the appeal. prosecution filed a superseding indictment, alleging an alternative theory of mail fraud.³ That alternative theory had neither been charged in the original charging document nor presented to the original jury. The Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals found that the new prosecution, on the alternative mail fraud theory, could proceed, without violating double jeopardy principles. The emphasis of the decision was that the prosecution, at the time of the filing of the indictment and trial had been acting in accordance with existing law, and had not done anything improper: the prosecution had no reason to anticipate the Supreme Court's disavowal of a mail fraud theory which the federal courts had

<u>See</u>, <u>McNally v. United States</u>, 483 U.S. 350, 107 S.Ct. 2875, 97 L.Ed. 2d 292 (1987).

2

By contrast, the instant case entails lesser included offenses which were actually presented to the jury in the lower court proceedings, as opposed to a "new" theory alleged for the first time in a superseding charging document. routinely deemed proper. Davis, 873 F. 2d at 905-906.

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