017

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JUN 20 1995 CLERK, SUPREME COURT

CASE NO. 87,631

CLEEK, SCHEEDSWOODK

## THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

-VS-

#### PATSY JONES,

Respondent.

#### ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS**

BENNETT H. BRUMMER Public Defender Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Florida 1320 Northwest 14th Street Miami, Florida 33125 (305) 545-1960

BRUCE A. ROSENTHAL Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 227218

Counsel for Respondent

# **

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I.

A conviction for attempted third-degree felony murder cannot stand under this Court's decision in *State v. Gray*, 654 So. 2d 552 (Fla. 1995), which held such offenses to be non-existent, and the District Court of Appeal properly vacated the conviction outright. Reduction to a lesser was not proper because assuming, arguendo, there could be lessers to such a non-existent offense, there could be no necessarily lesser-included offenses, and reduction to a permissive lesser-included offense (assuming the existence of such) is impermissible under *Taylor v. State*, 608 So. 2d 804 (Fla. 1992).

As to a remand for retrial on the two asserted lessers (attempted manslaughter or aggravated assault), the evidence was insufficient for attempted manslaughter and any aggravated assault in this case was an integral part of the robbery and therefore dual convictions should be held impermissible under authority of *Sirmons v. State*, 634 So. 2d 153, 154 (Fla. 1994).

II.

A guidelines departure cannot be based on factors inherent in the offense or scored under the guidelines, or on factors for which convictions have not been obtained. Here the defendant committed a robbery and carjacking of a male business executive driving from the airport on the expressway, heading to Broward County for a company meeting.

The trial court's departure for victim vulnerability on the stated basis the victim was a "tourist" was properly held unsustainable by the District Court of Appeal. The

victim suffered no injury or trauma, and his status as visitor was already factored into the offenses at conviction; the legislature enacted the carjacking statute, a heightened form of robbery statute, to protect residents and visitors alike. The victim was not cognizably more vulnerable than any victim of a robbery, an offense which by its nature is a crime of opportunity. The cause was properly remanded for resentencing within the guidelines permitted range.

#### **ARGUMENT**

1.

THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL PROPERLY VACATED OUTRIGHT THE DEFENDANT'S CONVICTION FOR THE NON-EXISTENT OFFENSE OF ATTEMPTED THIRD-DEGREE FELONY MURDER PURSUANT TO STATE v. GRAY, 654 So. 2d 552 (Fla. 1995).

The defendant was convicted under Count I of the information of attempted third-degree felony murder, which the District Court of Appeal properly vacated under authority of *State v. Gray*, 654 So. 2d 552 (Fla. 1995), which held that attempted felony murder is a non-existent offense in Florida. Although portions of the Petitioner's lengthy discussion on the subject somewhat confute or obscure the point, the jury's return of this lesser verdict<sup>1</sup> constituted as a matter of state and federal constitutional law an (implied) acquittal of all greater offenses and, of course, no retrial may be had as to those offenses. *Price v. Georgia*, 398 U.S. 323, 90 S. Ct. 1957, 26 L. Ed. 2d 300 (1970); *Green v. United States*, 355 U.S. 184, 78 S. Ct. 221, 2 L. Ed. 2d 199 (1957); *Selvester v. United States*, 170 U.S.

1

The defendant was charged in Count I of the information with attempted first-degree murder (R. 1), and the jury was instructed on attempted first-degree murder, along with lessers of attempted second-degree murder, attempted third-degree felony murder, attempted voluntary manslaughter, and aggravated assault. (T. 808-818.) Notwithstanding the State's contention that when the defendant got out of the Ryder truck and fired one or two shots, she did so at the victim and with premeditation (S.R. 270-71, 761-63), no shots struck the vehicle (S.R. 272, 762), the defendant's statements to police were that the shots were warning shots only (S.R. 600, 636, 697), and the ensuing sequence of events was that the defendant approached the victim with a companion, and robbed him of personal possessions and the car but allowed him, upon his insistence, to keep his wedding ring. (S.R. 275, 600-01, 698.) The jury's finding (S.R. 871; R. 161) thus negated the thrust of the State's argument.

262, 269, 18 S. Ct. 580, 582-83, 42 L. Ed. 1029 (1898). Accordingly, the only question presented herein is a limited one, i.e., whether an appellate court may "reduce" the conviction of a non-existent offense to another offense, or whether retrial is permitted for any lesser-included offenses. For the reasons which follow, the lower court correctly concluded that neither action may be taken.

First, as to the question of "reduction," even apart from the inherent logical impossibility of "reducing" a non-existent offense, this Court has held that even an (unproven) existent offense may only be reduced to a (proven) necessarily lesser-included offense. Taylor v. State, 608 So. 2d 804 (Fla. 1992). Both as a general logical matter, and with respect to the particulars of this case, there are no "necessarily" included offenses of "attempted third-degree felony murder." See Fla. Std. Jury Instr. (Crim.), Schedule of Lesser Included Offenses (listing no category one, that is, no necessarily included offenses, for third-degree felony murder). Thus, if there could be any lessers of the non-existent offense, they could only be category two lessers, reduction to which is flatly impermissible under Taylor v. State, id. at 804. See, e.g., Behn v. State, 621 So. 2d 534, 537-38 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) (where evidence insufficient to convict defendant of charged offense of manslaughter by culpable negligence, offense could not be reduced to that of vehicular homicide because latter is a permissive lesser-included offense, and outright discharge required).

Second, as to the question of remanding for retrial on "lessers," in the first instance, the State's reliance on certain decisions of this Court misconstrues those decisions. Citing *Jordan v. State*, 438 So. 2d 825 (Fla. 1983); *State v. Sykes*, 434 So. 2d 325 (Fla. 1983);

and *Achin v. State*, 436 So. 2d 30 (Fla. 1982), the State asserts that where a conviction is returned for a non-existent offense retrial could be had even for "an obviously higher level offense" and therefore, under the State's reasoning, *a fortion* for a lesser offense. (Brief of Pet'r at 12-14.) This Court's decisions hardly state that; each of the relied upon decisions represents the proposition that when the reason for invalidity of the verdict-returned offense is that it is not a separate offense but rather an offense fully contemplated by and co-extensive with the main (charged) offense, a verdict cannot stand but retrial is permissible.

See Jordan v. State, id. at 826 (offense of attempted resisting arrest with violence is non-existent because attempt is already contemplated within resisting arrest statute and returned verdict "includes all the elements of the offense originally charged"); State v. Sykes, id. at 326-28 (same as to relation between "attempted" grand theft and grand theft); Achin v. State, id. at 32 ("'[A]ttempted extortion' is not a crime because 'extortion' is in itself an attempt. The elements for both are identical. Rather than being a lesser-included of 'extortion,' 'attempted extortion' is 'extortion.'".)<sup>2</sup>,<sup>3</sup>

<sup>2</sup> 

Indeed, if anything, these cases are more supportive of the Respondent's position as to unavailability of reduction in this case because they recognize that even in light of an explicit finding by a jury of a "non-existent" offense *identical in elements* to an existent offense, the verdict cannot stand and the Court will not presume to reduce to a lesser offense, but rather will remand the case for appropriate redetermination by jury where retrial is, unlike herein, permissible.

<sup>3</sup> 

The State's reliance on *United States v. Davis*, 873 F. 2d 900 (6th Cir. 1989), also is inapposite. Apart from being a case *sui generis*, *Davis*, unlike the instant case, involved "trial error" in failure to dismiss what turned out to be a defective indictment; it has long

And, although taking an overly and unconstitutionally narrow view of the scope of double jeopardy, the State does recognize that remand for a new trial on lessers is not permitted where double jeopardy operates as a bar. That jeopardy is a bar, or should be, is the situation here. Notwithstanding the State's argument that the defendant has been given an "unwarranted free ride" (Brief of Pet'r at 9), in fact the defendant has been convicted in this case of armed robbery, armed burglary, and armed carjacking. (R. 162-64, 166.) The shot that was fired in this case was fired from a distance of thirty feet, as a warning shot (S.R. 600, 636, 697), and in the ensuing robbery the victim was unharmed and, while his car and other possessions were taken, he was allowed to keep his wedding ring. (S.R. 275, 600-01, 698.)

Thus, in context, the assaultive behavior represented by the shot appears both patently insufficient for attempted manslaughter and, moreover, was an integral part of the force through which the robbery was effected, and therefore, multiple convictions should be barred. See Simons v. State, 634 So. 2d 153, 154 (Fla. 1994) (convictions for both robbery and grand theft are impermissible because "[t]he degree factors of force and use of a weapon aggravate the underlying theft offense to a first-degree felony robbery"); Cleveland v. State, 587 So. 2d 1145, 1146 (Fla. 1991) ("[W]hen a robbery conviction is enhanced because of the use of a firearm in committing the robbery, the single act involving the use of the same firearm in the commission of the same robbery cannot form the basis of a separate conviction and sentence for the use of a firearm while committing

been the double jeopardy rule that a reversal for trial error, as distinct from insufficiency or certain other types of invalidity, does not constitute a double jeopardy bar. *Id.* at 904-06.

a felony under section 790.07(2).").4

Therefore, the lower court properly adjudicated this issue, and the certified question (which should be rephrased to recognize the verdict herein was for attempted third-degree rather than attempted first-degree felony murder) should, under the facts of this case, be answered in the negative, and the decision of the lower court approved.

Some courts have paradoxically relied upon this Court's decision in Taylor for the proposition that multiple convictions for both robbery, and aggravated assault used to effectuate the robbery, are permissible. See, e.g., Owens v. State, 626 So. 2d 240, 242 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993), review denied, 634 So. 2d 626 (Fla. 1994); Stone v. State, 616 So. 2d 643 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993). Compare Sanders v. State, 621 So. 2d 723 (Fla. 5th DCA) (in implicit disagreement with logic of foregoing cases, recognizing that although in some instances aggravated assault may be a permissive lesser-included offense of robbery and apparently double jeopardy would therefore bar double conviction, evidence in instant trial showed acts "took place in a rather lengthy criminal episode" and "were not factually a 'single act' involving use of the same firearm."), review denied, 629 So. 2d 135 (Fla. 1993). Stone and Owens, unlike Sanders, take no apparent account of the extant case of Cleveland, and in any event precede Sirmons. There is no self-evident reason why this Court's holding that aggravated assault is a permissive rather than a necessary lesserincluded offense of robbery suggests, much less mandates, the conclusion that convictions for both are permissible. To the contrary, such would typically seem impermissible under Cleveland and Simons, and, it would appear in any event that the Sanders analysis is on the more correct track than Owens or Stone.

BECAUSE A GUIDELINES DEPARTURE CANNOT BE BASED ON FACTORS INHERENT IN THE OFFENSE OR SCORED UNDER THE GUIDELINES, OR ON FACTORS FOR WHICH CONVICTIONS HAVE NOT BEEN OBTAINED, THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY HELD THAT DEPARTURE FOR VICTIM VULNERABILITY STATUS, WHERE THE VICTIM (A MIDDLE-AGED BUSINESSMAN) WAS UNINJURED AND WAS NO MORE VULNERABLE THAN MOST OR MANY VICTIMS OF ROBBERY, WAS UNJUSTIFIED.

The lower court properly found that there was no allowable factor to meaningfully differentiate this case from most robberies and that, accordingly, the trial court's departure sentence was unjustified. At sentencing on December 29, 1994, the trial court stated as its basis for guidelines departure: "I am relying solely on the tourist aspect. . . . I think certainly based on the facts of this case, this particular tourist was particularly vulnerable, yes, but I think as a general theory of law, yes." (S.R. 906, 908.) The trial court expressly disclaimed reliance upon, and rejected, the reasons suggested by the State pertaining to high degree of sophistication. (S.R. 906.) On the guidelines scoresheet, the trial court notated: "Ct. finds that the victim as a tourist was especially vulnerable to be a victim(,)" and indicated, as it stated at sentencing, that a detailed written order, to be prepared by the State, was to follow. (R. 176; S.R. 911.) The trial court expressly acknowledged that if the appellate court "says that tourists are not especially vulnerable, then I would have to vacate the sentence and impose a sentence pursuant to the guidelines, clearly." (S.R. 908.)

On the day following sentencing, the trial court rendered the following, State-

#### prepared, order:

- 2. The Court's sentence departs from the guidelines because the evidence clearly establishes that the defendant and her-codefendants chose the victim in this case because they correctly surmised that he was a tourist. The defendant's confession establishes that when she and the codefendants decided to commit a robbery they drove a considerable distance to the area of Miami International Airport. Specifically, they drove to the expressway on the south side of the airport, which was closest to the rental companies where an out-of-town tourist would most likely go to rent an automobile. They forcibly stopped the victim's rental car on the expressway and committed the crimes for which the defendant was convicted.
- 3. The victim's status as a tourist made him particularly vulnerable to defendant's crimes since his lack of familiarity with the area made his escape highly unlikely. Moreover, because he was a tourist it was a great hardship for him to return to Miami to appear for deposition and trial. The defendant and her codefendants specifically selected the victim in this case because they hoped that his vulnerability as a tourist would make the crime easier to commit and less likely to be successfully prosecuted.
- 4. The particular vulnerability of a victim can be a valid reason for departing from the sentencing guidelines. *Carter v. State*, 550 So. 2d 1130 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989); *Orange v. State*, 535 So. 2d 691 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988); *Berry v. State*, 511 So. 2d 1075 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987). Particularly, when as in this case, the victim's vulnerability is the actual reason why he was selected as a victim, a departure from the guidelines is warranted.

[R. 178-79.]

On January 5, 1995, the cause came on before the trial court for hearing on the

defense's objections to the order. (S.R. 913-16.) When defense counsel stated that the only reason the court had given at sentencing for departure was that a tourist qualifies as a vulnerable victim, and that the remainder of the order was surplusage, the trial court acknowledged:

THE COURT: Well, that's true. I think what you have described as surplusage in paragraph two is simply a statement of fact leading up to that conclusion. That's all.

I just think -- I want the Appellate Court -- you're right; this is one legal reason. The victim was a tourist and I found that he was -- that status of tourist made him vulnerable. The wording was "specially vulnerable", and the language in the rest of two is a statement of fact. The same as three. Paragraph number three is a discussion of fact. That's all.

MR. ADELSTEIN: I want the record clear that we objected to those portions. And I apologize for being late.

THE COURT: Noted.

MR. ADELSTEIN: For whatever Appellate purpose

THE COURT: Your objection is preserved and note for the record.

[S.R. 915-16.]

The District Court of Appeal properly found the foregoing to be an inadequate basis for departure. To the extent that the written order varies from the oral pronouncement, i.e., to the extent that it suggests planning or premeditation as a basis for departure, this was specifically rejected by the court at sentencing. (S.R. 906.)

Moreover, premeditation or planning is common to any robbery, and therefore cannot be a basis for departure. *Hansbrough v. State*, 509 So. 2d 1081, 1087-88 (Fla. 1987) (reason that "armed robbery planned in advance by the defendant" is invalid ground for departure); *Williams v. State*, 544 So. 2d 1125, 1126 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989) (that robbery committed in a "calculated, premeditated manner" invalid ground for departure).

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